

600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232-2736

MEETING SUMMARY Solid Waste Advisory Committee Rate Policy Subcommittee

Metro Regional Center, Room 270 December 15, 2005

Members Present:

Councilor Rod Park, Chair
Mike Hoglund, Director, Solid Waste & Recycling, Co-Chair
Ralph Gilbert, East County Recycling (ECR)
Dave White, Oregon Refuse & Recycling Association (ORRA)
Dean Kampfer, Waste Management
Dave Garten, Portland State University (PSU)
Glenn Zimmerman, Wood Waste Reclamation

Mike Miller, Gresham Sanitary
Jeff Murray, Far West Fibers
Mark MacGregor, Clean It Up Mark
Ray Phelps, Allied Waste
Michelle Poyourow, Public Power Council
Matt Korot, City of Gresham
Bruce Walker, City of Portland

Members Absent:

Ted Kyle, Clackamas County Mike Leichner, Pride Recycling

Metro Staff:

Doug Anderson, SW&R, Financial Mgmt. & Analysis Div. Mgr. Roy Brower, SW&R Regulatory Affairs Division Mgr. Tom Chaimov, Sr. Solid Waste Planner, SW&R

Kathryn Sofich, Metro Council Office Gina Cubbon, Administrative Secretary

Guests:

(None)

Councilor Park convened the meeting, thanking ECR's Ralph Gilbert for flying in from Maui specifically for this meeting. Minutes from the November 10 meeting were still in preparation. The summary of the November 17 meeting was handed out. Approval was postponed pending the subcommittee's review.

Councilor Park said that staff had found answers to some of the Committee's questions from the last meeting regarding self-haul. "One of the things I'd like to raise as you're thinking about [the self-haul issue]," the Councilor remarked, "...is that it breaks down to three things: Do you want a neutral policy about it, do you want to encourage it, or do you want to discourage it?" That recommendation is what will go on to the Rate Review Committee.

He turned the proceedings over to Mr. Anderson, who explained to the group that self-haul was one of the issues from last year's RRC discussions. The starting point was Metro's commitment to staying open longer hours to ensure the public had access to self-haul options. The question was: do these extra hours provide a broad regional benefit? If so, should the extra hours be paid by everyone; meaning, funded from the Regional System Fee? Or, should the extra hours be borne by public customers only? (Right now,

we're in the middle: the cost of the hours is borne by Metro customers, not the system fee. But the cost is averaged across all customers, so the big commercial traffic—which tend to cost less to process through the facility—end up subsidizing the self-haul customers.) The RRC then decided that the regional policy toward self-haul needed to be clearly decided in order to design a rate that supports that. He noted that most of the RRC members were also in this subcommittee, and asked if his characterization of last year's proceedings matched their recollections. They nodded agreement.

Councilor Park asked the group to consider the basic question: Is self-haul a policy Metro should continue to allow? Michelle Poyourow asked for some information about the price differences between a load that is self-hauled and one that is picked up by a hauler. Examples were given by several members which showed that commercial hauling is more expensive because haulers have to pay for the truck, the driver and so forth—costs the self-hauler can discount or ignore.

Regarding allowing self-haul, ORRA's Dave White commented, "Yes, absolutely. I don't think it should be prohibited at all. ...It is certainly something people want to do, and I think if you were to try to ban it, you would have an uprising." Mike Miller agreed, and other members nodded their concurrence as well.

Councilor Park then moved discussion to the earlier question of whether Metro should take a neutral stance towards self-haul, encourage it, or discourage it. Far West Fiber's Jeff Murray recommended a neutral attitude: "The moment it becomes subsidized, it begins to compete with the private sector." Dean Kampfer of Waste Management agreed, adding that self-haul should be handled at a cost-of-service rate, and that he disagrees that doing such would encourage illegal dumping.

Dave Garten said that he's called acquaintances about the self-haul issue, and did not find one person who knows what their hauler can supply. He himself called his hauler and found no information until having a very long and "arduous" conversation. "If we want to provide a viable alternative, the alternative has to be convenient," he stated. "One piece is the economics, one piece is the convenience. So in my case, there wasn't any convenience or awareness." Mr. Garten also spoke about the cost-of-service issue and subsidization: "It would mean that people who use the scales would pay more than haulers using the automated system. What happens to those people, does it encourage illegal dumping, or does it encourage them to call their hauler?" he said, noting that calling their hauler goes back to the maze situation he found trying to find help from his hauler. Mr. Kampfer allowed that more information should be advertised.

Ms. Poyourow added, "I would feel a lot more comfortable with any talk about raising the self-haul price if we knew that people could avail themselves of the alternatives." She found the same obstacles as Mr. Garten, she said, trying to find out if / how her hauler would pick up (for instance) a couch.

Glenn Zimmerman commented that in his experience, illegal dumping "is a mind-set. If you charged fifty cents, they'd still go dump it [illegally] if that's their mind-set." He suggested that Metro shorten the hours at their transfer stations to save money, saying that people will find a way to haul during business hours. Agreeing with Mr. Zimmerman's assessment of illegal dumping, Mr. Gilbert advocated raising the transaction fee by \$3 or \$4 at certain hours to recover costs.

Mr. Phelps, too, agreed with the idea of Metro taking a neutral position on self-haul, saying that "self-haul is a reality," but it should be priced so that private facilities have a better chance to attract that customer. Parity between public and private facilities is important, Mr. Phelps maintained.

Mr. Murray said he's concerned that self-haul discourages recycling, though Mr. Gilbert added that self-haul loads coming into his facility are rich with materials his employees recover.

Representing the City of Gresham, Matt Korot concurred both that self-haul should be charged at cost-of-service, and that hours of operation should be reduced. He's unsure if illegal dumping will rise and would like to see that tracked for any changes.

Councilor Park addressed Mr. Phelps about Allied / BFI's contract to operate Metro's transfer stations: "Ray, as I recall there's a \$100,000 bonus you get at certain levels; I don't know where you put that in terms of subsidy," the Councilor said, referring to the materials recovery bonus within the operating

contract. If taking a neutral approach negatively affects the number of self-haul transactions at the Metro transfer stations, he mused, "the odds of Allied / BFI hitting that level will be reduced." Mr. Phelps said he's aware of that, "but that's the way it goes."

The subcommittee agreed on the concepts of cost-of-service for self-haul, reduced hours at the transfer stations, and increased education, Councilor Park summarized.

In answer to a question from Ms. Poyourow regarding who would be spearheading the educational portion, "to see that the haulers are communicating and marketing these services sufficiently," and the pricing information, as well. The City of Portland's Bruce Walker said that the local governments do that already to a degree. The problem is with individual bulky waste pickups, such as a couch. "I had one earlier this Fall – I called my hauler, and they came to get it, but you can't collect it in the regular curbside truck [such items don't fit in a standard side-load unit]." Therefore, the hauler had to come back with a different type of truck. In the City of Portland, Mr. Walker continued, haulers are required to offer this type of service, "but we do not set the price, and it would be something that depends on [the hauler's] schedule, their ability. They're going to make it so it's cost effective for them, and if they only have one couch to go back and get, it may be too expensive. They could decline, indirectly, through pricing." The City of Gresham, however, does set rates for bulky waste, Mr. Korot said. Still, he said, a much better job could be done regarding promoting the availability of the service.

Ms. Poyourow voiced that raising the self-haul rates, regardless of taking a "neutral" stance, "is going to discourage self-hauling. If some people don't even have an option for getting rid of a couch, or if it's not convenient, I think that's a problem."

"In my opinion," Mr. Walker said, "the curbside system works extremely well for the regular pick-ups throughout the region. But there is a big gap in terms of those hard-to-get-rid-of items that not only don't go out to the curb on a regular basis, but they don't really even fit unless you get a drop box. So how do you get those picked up?" The cost and "hassle factors" make haulers a little reluctant to deal with those situations, he continued. Continuing, Mr. Walker mentioned that on the East Coast (for instance, in New York, which has no self-haul options), pickup of all waste items is part of the tax base. While not recommending this, he pointed out that they do regularly pick up bulky waste items. The system for the Metro region is not set up to do that. Ms. Poyourow wondered aloud if low-priced self-haul has inadvertently helped make it easier to ignore the bulky waste issue. Perhaps raising the rates will force the issue to be dealt with.

Mr. Walker added that he thinks it's less a price issue than a problem with how to dispose of bulky waste. Some people don't have the right kind of vehicle – or any vehicle at all – to do self-haul, so it's a problem. Mr. Kampfer again said that Waste Management can pick up bulky waste loads, adding that they have a flat-bed truck for such runs, "it is a special run by a special truck. We also offer two-yard and four-yard one-time cleanup containers," that are dropped off and then picked up one week later. He said he thinks the system is in place and local governments could help.

Discussion continued. Mr. Zimmerman said the gap is being taken care of by companies such as 1-800 Got Junk, or various debris removal services. "I think that's where you're seeing some businesses showing up at self-haul. They're not going after what the [larger or franchised] hauler would be doing, because they're doing clean-up, not just picking-up." Mr. Gilbert mentioned that over the years, regardless of rate, self-haul has been steady. Mr. White added that if self-haul is "priced correctly, there might be more demand for [haulers'] services. If there's more demand for our services, our fixed costs can be spread over more events, and the cost to the individual could be lowered."

Amidst further discussion, Councilor Park noted that the group seemed to have reached consensus. Mr. White brought attention to a phrase in the agenda packet (page 2, Service Delivery, second bullet), "...it is very difficult for commercial haulers to price-compete with self-hauling." He suggested that be changed to

read, "...difficult for commercial haulers to price-compete with *subsidized* self-hauling." Mr. Anderson agreed to the change. However, Mr. Kampfer pointed out that even at a cost-of-service rate for self-haul, companies such as his would still need to subsidize self-haul.

Mr. Anderson wanted to be sure the group understood his use of the word "subsidy" in connection with rates at Metro's transfer stations. "None of the direct costs to handle self-haul are in the Regional System Fee," he explained. The "subsidy" in this case arises from the fact that we charge one transaction fee regardless of the cost to serve different customers. For example, commercial haulers using automated scale access generate billing costs, but almost no scale house costs. A public self-haul customer, on the other hand, has to use the scale houses, "...which is about \$1.2 - \$1.3 million a year in direct costs. Because *all* of these costs are averaged over *all* customers," Mr. Anderson continued, "the transaction fee on commercial customers using automated scales is higher than the cost to serve them, while the opposite is true for self-haulers: the transaction fee doesn't quite cover their costs." So the "subsidy" is internal, across customer classes within the transfer stations only. No "external" money from the system fee. There is also, he added, a bit of a subsidy on the capital cost of the public unloading facility at Metro South. This facility was paid out of reserve funds which are not being repaid from rates. Councilor Park noted that building the public unloading facility at Metro South has helped commercial haulers by lessening traffic there.

Mr. Murray remarked that hours of operation make a difference in whether the policy is actually neutral. He said that it's unfair for Metro stations to be open longer than other facilities. After some discussion between Councilor Park and Mr. Murray, however, Mr. Phelps countered that every company has to decide its own hours. "There may be a number of reasons that I [hypothetically] close at 5. Or it may be that I just don't want to be there. Nevertheless, that shouldn't hamper anybody else from running longer hours," he said. "If it's fairly priced, if it's priced competitively, that's all you can expect. From then on, how the service is provided is an individual decision."

Mr. Zimmerman asked that if hours were shortened, would the current rates cover the cost-of-service for self-haul? "You could condense those hours somewhat, and the savings from that would get you to actual cost of service without jumping the tipping fee," he said. Councilor Park said there would need to be internal conversation on the subject. Mr. Miller returned to Mr. Gilbert's earlier idea of variable transaction fees "that would fairly consider the cost to do that transaction," and could include the hour the transaction took place. Mr. Kampfer added that a \$3.00 rise in transaction fee for certain hours would likely cover it. Councilor Park said that the idea of a split rate and the hours issues could be presented to the SWAC and the Rate Review Committee.

Should Metro or local governments see to it that haulers provide the services, Ms. Poyourow asked. "I think you're running into a sensitive situation between where Metro's responsibility ends and local jurisdictions' begins." Councilor Park chuckled. "I know I am," Ms. Poyourow replied.

"I think private haulers are more sensitive to these turf issues than the local governments are," Mr. Korot commented, "because we all work very closely together and we consider ourselves having a common mission. I think we have a better job to do, and we recognize it's our responsibility to do that." He and Mr. Walker were comfortable with speaking for absent jurisdictions, in spite of differences in their solid waste systems. Councilor Park added that drivers don't really care who's in charge of the road they're on –it can be county, city, etc. The consumer, he continued, doesn't care either, as long as the service is there.

Throughout this discussion, Mr. Anderson had been noting the key points on the white board. After brief further discussion, the group agreed to forward the white board notes on to SWAC.

III. Funding Metro Regulation of Solid Waste Facilities...... Doug Anderson, Councilor Park, All

Councilor Park explained the background of this agenda item, which represents \$464,000 in the Solid Waste & Recycling Budget. This item includes inspection of transfer stations and "dirty" MRFs that pay RSF, but also clean MRFs, composting facilities, organics, and other facilities which pay little or nothing into the RSF. "The policy question," the Councilor said, "...is that a cost of service, or a public good that is just part of the cost of doing business? Also, if you could say it's a cost of service item, what would be the mechanism you'd use to collect it, and how would you distinguish it from some of the things we've already exempted?"

Mr. Phelps replied first, saying that his opinion on the subject has taken a significant turn. The crux of the matter comes down to whether all franchised and/or licensed facilities in the Metro region are going to "bear their financial impact on the system," he said. That, he continued, would in turn drive how to fund the program. However, Mr. Phelps added, "...for other policy reasons – such as recycling, yard debris, composting, *et cetera* – it may not be financially feasible for some of those operations to pay the kind of money it's going to take to adequately fund the regulatory process. So now I'm kind of moving back to a Regional System Fee, depending on how that branch divides (or doesn't)." Concluding, Mr. Phelps said, "The over-arching interest I have – and I know other people who make a living in this business have – is that we have a well-run system that is regulated. It's probably the only cost component in the Metro budget I never have a concern about. I often times think you don't spend enough... The Regulatory Affairs [Division] should be in a position that they have the unfettered discretion to go examine whatever it is that needs to be examined, regardless of what it's going to cost." Mr. Kampfer added that inspection adds credibility to the system, because it assures the region's citizens that their curbside materials are being handled responsibly.

Mr. Anderson handed out an excerpt from last year's Rate Review Committee materials (attached) as Roy Brower, Regulatory Affairs Division Manager, spoke to the group. Mr. Brower explained that some numbers have changed since April 2005, when the document was written. There are now more facilities that are regulated, he said, and explained that the number of inspections done annually is not static, but depends on the need. Additionally, there are situations in which unauthorized facilities begin taking waste and need to be shut down or brought into the system legitimately.

In answer to a question from Ms. Poyourow, Mr. Anderson detailed which types of facilities pay into the Regional System Fee. In addition to private facilities, Metro transfer station customers and users of out-of-district landfills also pay the RSF. Local transfer stations and dry waste processors pay only on tonnage that is landfilled, and these facilities are also eligible for credits against the RSF. Even facilities that are exempt from having a license have to pay on what goes to the landfill, Mr. Brower said. "The only [facilities] truly exempt from having to pay anything on landfilled waste are tire processors – they still have to pay a disposal charge, but they're exempt from the Regional System Fee and Excise Tax." There was further discussion about regulation and licensing, and the history behind some of the exemptions, such as yard debris. Regarding inspections, Mr. Brower said that some are planned, some in response to nuisance complaints.

Is there other information the subcommittee would like for background on this issue, Councilor Park asked. Mr. Miller said he didn't need any other information, "It seems you have to make a decision on whether or not those folks who are being regulated should pay for it in some way or another. Obviously there's some cost, and personally I think everyone should come under the umbrella." There is a value to having inspections and to ensuring that "everyone's doing things in the manner they should be doing them," Mr. Miller commented, adding that a cost is incurred by inspections and so everyone should be paying some fees. The cost always comes down to the generator, whether they're paying more at the facilities or through their garbage rates, he concluded.

Mr. Zimmerman maintained that if composters, yard debris, roofers, etc. are going to be paying fees, then clean MRFs and other recyclers should pay – or leave things the way they are now. Mr. Kampfer agreed with Mr. Miller that the consumer ends up paying (usually within the garbage rate), but those such as landscapers would be impacted.

"It's important to understand," Mr. Murray commented, "that at this time, the costs for dirty or clean MRFs - other than a fee that you pay for your license – there's no difference. You pay proportionately on what goes out the back door as garbage. That's how the system was set up, whether it's yard debris or what. You're encouraged to do the best you can to recover and recycle, and you get rewarded for doing that by paying less, not having to pay at the front end for those fees. This would be a dramatic shift in policy."

Councilor Park began to wrap up the day's proceedings. "If you could [change the current roster of who pays, is exempt, etc.], would it move the dials very much or at all.... or do you just increase the overall cost, trying to chase after how to assign the dollars," he asked rhetorically. Other options, he continued, might be to increase franchise / licensing fees. "The big piece I get the most nervous about," the Councilor said, "is that if you do change the philosophy, the biggest shift is going to be in the organics. There's already been a policy decision made by the Council to exempt organics from fees and taxes. This would – given some of the things we talked about – bring that back underneath that. Philosophically, [Mr. Murray] is right – the hit has always been on anything that gets buried [in the landfill]..."

Mr. White asked that the next meeting include clearer information on the difference between inspection and regulation.

Councilor Park adjourned the meeting at 2:02 pm, wishing the group happy holidays.

Next meeting:

Thursday, January 5, 2005 Room 370

gbc

Attachment

Rate Policy Subcommittee Introduction to Regulatory Issues December 15, 2005

Current regulatory framework established in 1998:

- Enforce performance standards on nuisances, material recovery, etc.
- Ensure fair and correct solid waste system fees are paid.
- The cost of the regulatory system should be shared by all.

Options considered for paying for regulation:

- Generally funded (*e.g.*, through Regional System Fee)
- Paid by regulatory community only.

The choice of general funding (*i.e.*, costs in the RSF) was driven by:

- A finding that enforcing standards has a broad public benefit.
- Practical matter: the ability to pay varies by facility type; could threaten the viability of some emerging recovery industries.
- Concerns about equity if some facilities had to pay, others didn't.
- General concerns about any industry funding its own regulation.

The "third fee" (*i.e.*, a license or franchise fee) arose with the Rate Review Committee's recent recommendation that Metro move toward rates that reflect "cost-of-service."

- "Cost of service" implies that facilities should pay for the costs they induce.
- All of the issues raised in 1998 (above) remain unresolved
- Design of the fee itself remains an issue, even with the RRC

Rate Policy Subcommittee December 15, 2005

Excerpt from Rate Review Committee materials, April 5, 2005

Boxed numbers indicate tonnage that is subject to Metro solid waste fees and taxes.

Regulatory Classification

Number of Facilities (Approx.		Approximate Annual		Metro Inspections (FY05-06	
Count)		Tonnage		Planned)	_
Facilities Subject to Metro Regulation					
					N
	and actually regulated				Notes
1	Private Regional Transfer Stations	143,005		6	
3	Local Transfer Stations	254,182		18	
4	Dry Waste Processors	105,110		30	incl. Aloha, KB, W'tech, ECR
7	Non System Licensees	66,513		6	NSL destinations listed below
13	Compost/Yard Debris Facilities	250,000		93	
3	Roofing Processors	50,000		17	
Ü	Treesing Freesessie	00,000	Subtotal	170	(67% of total)
	but exempt from regulation		0 0.01010.		(61 70 61 1614.)
6	Sludge Processors*	50,000		31	
2	Tire Processors	50,000		4	incl. out of district tires
10+	Other Specialized Processors	200,000		9	Hog fuel, drywall, etc.
6	Clean MRFs	450,000		0	
8	Concrete & rubble Processors	1,000,000 +		0	
			Subtotal	44	(17% of total)
Facilities Not Subject to Metro Regulation					
2	Metro Transfer Stations	565,202		0	
10	Other Private Landfills	?		0	industrial wastes, inert mat'ls.
	but have an arrangement w/ Metro				
2	Limited Purpose Landfills	219,058		22	Lakeside, Hillsboro
5	General Purpose Landfills	6,914 **		18	CR,CB,FB,Roos,Wasco
1	Mass incinerator (waste-to-energy)	12,022 ***		0	
	,	ralues sum to 1,359,985 tons.	Subtotal	40	(16% of total)

Notes: Tonnage figures rounded to the nearest 10,000 are approximate; throughput at these facilities is either not measured and/or is not reported to Metro.

Non-system licensees deliver waste to two Waste Connections transfer stations in Vancouver, Wash. and to the Marion County incinerator, and small amounts of waste are delivered under NSLs to Wasco Landfill and to a Weyerhauser landfill in Longview, Wash. Not included in the licensee tonnage total, WRI hauls its waste under an NSL to Coffin Butte Landfill, owned by its parent, Allied Waste; and Pride Disposal (and to a lesser degree Troutdale Transfer Station) haul waste to WMI's Riverbend Landfill in McMinnville.

^{*} One sludge processor, Thermo Fluids, is licensed by Metro.

^{**} General purpose landfills accept virtually all the putrescible waste and dry waste residual from the above facilities. The small number of tons shown here represent mainly special wastes transported directly from the Metro region to the landfill without transfer.

^{***} Most of the incinerator tonnage is already counted in Metro's (9,100 t) and WRI's (2,700 t) totals.